Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-15-2018

Galvin v. City of Middleton Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45578

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Nature of the Case:

This is a quiet title action involving a question whether Respondents, Martin and Patricia Galvin (the "Galvins"), established a prescriptive easement prior to Appellant, City of Middleton (the "City"), taking ownership of the disputed parcel. The District Court granted the Galvins' motion for summary judgment finding that a prescriptive easement had been established and awarded attorney fees to the Galvins. The City now appeals.

(ii) Statement of Facts:

Respondents Martin and Patricia Galvin (the "Galvins"), and Mr. Galvin's forebears, have owned a parcel of land situated in Canyon County, Idaho, identified by the Canyon County Assessor's Office as "Parcel Number 33877000 0", and legally described by the Canyon County Assessor's Office as Section 5 T4N R2W, NW LT 4, SWNW, W 1/2 SENW,W 24' OF E 1/2 SENW LS TX 02805 & LS RD ON W (the "Galvin Property"), since at least 1949. See R. 13, 20, and 66. Along the northern border of the Galvin Property is a drainage ditch that permitted excess

irrigation water to drain from the Galvin Property. See R. 66, ¶ 7. Directly to the north of the drainage ditch on the Galvin Property is a farm irrigation road (the "Dirt Road") that borders the Galvin Property, which is not owned by the Galvins. See R. 12–20, 67, and 98. The Dirt Road is currently owned by the City and forms the basis of this lawsuit. See R. 46–50.

Prior to the City owning the Dirt Road, Mr. Galvin claims that his family had used it continuously since 1949 for the purposes of checking water in his drainage ditch. See R. 66, ¶6. Mr. Galvin does not make clear who owned the Dirt Road at that time, or whether any other person in his family had ever asked for permission to use the Dirt Road from its owners, but only asserts that "[he] never got any permission for [his] use [of the Dirt Road]." Id.

The first owners identified by the Galvins were Delno and Hazel Robinson (the "Robinsons") who first obtained ownership of the Dirt Road in the early 1960s. See R. 66, ¶ 8. According to the Galvins, the Robinsons were "not farmer[s]," but would occasionally irrigate their land in the evenings. See Id. The Robinsons did not build a home on their property until 1967 or 1968, and raised the elevation of their homebuilding site by taking dirt from the Dirt Road on their property. See R. 67, ¶ 9. The Galvins have stated that the Robinsons fairly ruined his ability to use the Dirt Road by building their home. See Id. The Galvins did not claim that they had any dispute with the Robinsons regarding the destruction of the Dirt Road at that time, but only claim to have built up the Dirt Road and continued to maintain it since 1968. See R. 67, ¶ 10.

The first potential dispute over access to the Dirt Road asserted by the Galvins did not arise until 1972. See R. 67,¶11. The Galvins state that the Robinsons wanted to plant raspberry bushes on the south side of the Dirt Road on the Galvin Property that would have "cut off access to the

[Dirt Road] and [his] ditch, and therefore, [the Robinsons] did not have a right to do that." *See Id.* According to the Galvins, the only other dispute he had with the Robinsons regarding the Dirt Road was when Hazel Robinson would be upset with wheat trucks driving on it. *See* R. 67, ¶ 12. The Galvins did not ascribe any particular time frame for the date of the alleged disputes with Hazel Robinson, but rather have claimed that she would get upset "over the years." *Id.* However, from the interactions described by the Galvins, the relationship between the Robinsons and the Galvins was a neighborly one. *See* R. 67, ¶¶ 13–15. In fact, the Galvins stated that they assisted Hazel when her husband passed away in January of 1977, and that their son-in-law farmed the Robinson property for a number of years. *See Id.* (describing helpful actions taken by Martin Galvin); *see also*, R. 90, ¶ 6 (stating that Howard Randolph Powell, the Galvins' son-in-law, had farmed the Robinson land between 2003 and 2008, until Hazel passed away in 2009).

Beginning around the mid-1990s, Mike Wagner began farming the Galvin Property, and the Galvins stopped personally farming. See R. 70, ¶25 (from the Declaration of Martin C. Galvin in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, stating that "Mike Wagner has farmed [the Galvin Property] since sometime in the 1990s."); see also, R. 121, ¶¶6–7 (from the Declaration of Mike Wagner stating that Mike Wagner and his employees have farmed the Galvin Property during the 1990s and 2000s); but compare R. 225, ¶¶6–7 (from the Supplemental Declaration of Martin C. Galvin, stating that both Mike Wagner and Martin Galvin were farming the Galvin Property under some kind of "sharecropping arrangement," but that Mr. Galvin "performed many of the same tasks in conjunction with Mr. Wagner"), and also compare R. 271, ¶ 5 (from the Third Supplemental Declaration of Martin C. Galvin, clarifying that only Mike Wagner and his

employees have been actually farming the land since the mid-1990s). Mike Wagner and his employees "have used the [Dirt Road]... when farming the [Galvin Property] for general farming practices..." R. 121, ¶ 7. The record does not reflect how often Mike Wagner or his employees would use the Dirt Road for the purposes of "haul[ing] equipment and crops in and out every year," nor does it identify the type of equipment that was used on the Dirt Road. *See* R. 120–121.

In 1996, around the time when Mike Wagner first began farming the Galvin Property and Martin Galvin had personally stopped, the Galvins submitted an Applicant Intent Form to the Canyon County Planning and Zoning Commission ("PNZ") to begin the process of rezoning the Galvin Property from having two zoning categories of "Agricultural" and "Rural Residential" to having all of the property zoned as only "Rural Residential." *See* R. 153–170. The Galvins wanted to change the zoning and use of the Galvin Property "with the intent of developing a mixed use of golf course, rural residential lots, and perhaps potential hobby farms." R. 225, ¶ 4 (underlining added). In their Applicant Intent Form submitted in 1996, the Galvins expressed their clear intent to cease all farming operations on the Galvin Property in their answer to a question asking about changes to the use of the land. *See* R. 155, ¶ 9 (stating "[a]II farm operations will stop and land will be converted to residential use.").

In a further attempt to assure the PNZ that they were in earnest with their plans, in January of 1997, the Galvins sent a letter to Jerry Jones at the PNZ expressing their intent for the Galvin Property. *See* R. 183. In that letter the Galvins stated that they had farmed the Galvin Property for "approximately 50 years" and that "due to health and age [he] no longer [had] the desire to farm." *Id.* In the same communication, Mr. Galvin represented that their "intent" was to convert the

Galvin Property from "260 acres of agriculture and dry grazing ground ... to approximately 120 lots and a [sic] 18 hole golf course." *Id*.

After the submission of the appropriate documents to the PNZ, the Galvins appeared at a number of hearings between December of 1997 and March of 1998 to get the Galvin Property rezoned. See R. 188–189. During these hearings, Patricia Galvin, one of the Respondents, was a Member of the Board of Canyon County Commissioners. See R. 191, 202, and 205. Patricia Galvin did not vote during the proceedings but had a clear understanding of the legal effect of her application for and subsequent granting of the Galvins' desired rezoning efforts. See Id. These hearings included at least four separate public hearings where the PNZ met with the Galvins and received testimony, requested additional information, or obtained additional information from the Galvins. See R. 188–191. Based largely upon the applications, forms, testimony, plans, and other items provided by the Galvins, the PNZ voted to "approve the requested comprehensive plan change (amendment), rezone and amendment to Canyon County Zoning Ordinance No. 97-001."

On March 20, 1998, Canyon County Board of County Commissioners adopted and approved Ordinance No. 98-002 (the "Ordinance") per the Galvins' request and application, which amended Canyon County Zoning Ordinance No. 97-001. R. 204–213. The Ordinance went into effect on March 26, 1998. R. 205.

The passing of the Ordinance in March of 1998 was optimal for the Galvins and their planned development because it was prior to the actual irrigation season, which ran from "roughly April to October." *Compare* R. 225, ¶¶ 4–5, *with* R. 66, ¶ 6. After the economy and the Galvins'

financial situation did not permit them to immediately start development, the Galvins had sufficient time to hedge against potential financial loss by continuing the "sharecropping arrangement" with Mike Wagner, who continued to farm the Galvin Property. *Compare* R. 225, ¶¶ 4–5, with R. 121, ¶¶ 6–7.

While Mike Wagner farmed the Galvin Property under the purported "sharecropping arrangement" during the early 2000s, Hazel Robinson rented her land to various parties who used the Dirt Road for farming purposes. See R. 68, ¶ 14; see also, R. 90, ¶ 6. After Hazel Robinson's death in 2009, her property and the Dirt Road passed to Rand Sargent, her nephew, because her son had predeceased her. See R. 68, ¶ 15.

In late 2011 or early 2012, Phil and Michelle Allaire (the "Allaires") bought the Robinson land and the Dirt Road. See Id. at ¶ 16. Not long after the Allaires obtained ownership of the Dirt Road, the Allaires and the Galvins had a dispute regarding access to the Galvin Property including the Allaires filing criminal trespass charges. See R. 69, ¶¶ 18–20. As a result of the dispute, the Allaires put up a fence blocking access to the Dirt Road, preventing either the Galvins or Mike Wagner and his employees from using the Dirt Road. See Id. at ¶ 19; see also R. 121, ¶ 7. The Galvins did not file a lawsuit at that time asserting rights in the Dirt Road, but rather hired a surveyor to look at "ways to possibly move the drain ditch" that was located on the Galvin Property. See R. 69, ¶ 20.

The City came into possession of the Dirt Road when, in August of 2014, the Allaires gifted, via Warranty Deed, a fifty (50) foot strip of land which will be used by the City as a public right-of-way for future extension of the existing public road known as Willis Road. *See* R. 142–

143. Although the land was under the ownership of the City, the Allaires and their neighbors, Desiree and Nicholas Masterson (the "Mastersons"), entered into a license agreement which provides that the 50-foot strip of land will be used as a driveway and service road by the City, Allaires and Mastersons until construction of Willis Road is commenced. *See* R. 145–151.

(iii) Course of Proceedings:

Initial Pleadings

On June 28, 2016, the Galvins filed their Complaint claiming a prescriptive easement in a Dirt Road that came under ownership of the City. *See* R. 12–20. On July 27, 2016, the City filed its Answer denying the allegations contained in the Galvins' Complaint. *See* R. 21–29. Discovery between the parties commenced, wherein the City produced its documentation related to the rezoning application to the Galvins and which contained the statements made by the Galvins that they intended to cease all farming operations.

Summary Judgment Round One

On November 23, 2016, the Galvins filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, and provided their memorandum in support, and accompanying declarations and/or affidavits in support. See R. 30–95, 120–122. On motion for summary judgment, the Galvins argued that through the affidavits submitted to the court had satisfied all of the elements to obtain a prescriptive easement. The Galvins claimed that the use of the Dirt Road was open and notorious because the Galvins had disputes with the Robinsons regarding raspberry bushes that were to be planted on the Galvins' land, and the fact that they had used the Dirt Road. See R. 103–104. The Galvins further asserted that it was open and notorious because their friends and children always thought the road

was theirs. See R. 104. The Galvins claimed that their use was continuous and uninterrupted by using the road since 1949 to cut puncture vine, spraying, burning, trapping gophers, and repairing the road. See Id. The Galvins also argued that they built and maintained the Dirt Road. See R. 104–105.

The City filed its *Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment* on January 25, 2017. R. 123–136. The City argued among other things (1) that there was a material issue of fact as to whether the Galvins had abandoned any alleged prescriptive easement. *See* R. 128–130; (2) that the Galvins had not addressed the issue of whether they or their agents had reasserted any prescriptive rights post-1998. *See* R. 130–133; and (3) that the Galvins had failed to provide any evidence sufficient to establish a metes and bounds dimension for any alleged prescriptive easement in the Dirt Road. *See* R. 133.

In response to the City's objections raised in its opposition to summary judgment, the Galvins provided a reply memorandum, and provided additional affidavits from the Galvins and their attorney. See R. 214–232.

Oral Arguments on Summary Judgment Round 1

On January 18, 2017, the parties provided oral arguments to the court on the Galvins' Motion for Summary Judgment. In that hearing the Court acknowledged its concerns regarding the abandonment issue, whether the Galvins made any effort to re-obtain a prescriptive easement prior to the statutory change, and then further added concerns about the fact that the affidavits from the Galvins did not provide clear dates regarding farming or not farming. See Tr. pp. 19–21. The Court stated that "I am not willing or in a position to grant summary judgment because of that at

this time." Tr. p. 20, L. 23–24. The district court concluded that it was "concerned about the abandonment issue, [and] facts surrounding the abandonment issue." Tr. p. 29, L. 22–24.

Summary Judgment Round 2

Pursuant to the first oral arguments, on February 3, 2017, the City submitted its Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment pointing to at least eleven (11) distinct acts related to the rezoning of their property that could individually or collectively be sufficient to establish abandonment. See R. 237–241. Additionally, the City argued that no facts existed as it relates to potentially restarting the prescriptive easement period after the 1998 rezoning ordinance enacted at the Galvins' request. See R. 241–243.

On February 8, 2017, the Galvins submitted their Supplemental Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, accompanied by affidavits of Cathy Skidmore and a Third Supplemental Declaration of Martin Galvin. See R. 245–278. The Galvins' brief argued that the burden was on the City to support the affirmative defense, and that the City had only alleged one fact (that the Galvins had "applied for and obtained approval to rezone their property to construct a 120-lot subdivision and golf course"). See R. 249. The Galvin argument pointed to the third affidavit of Martin Galvin and stated there was no intent to abandon the easement. See R. 250. The Galvins' brief further argued that there were no acts to show abandonment because the land continued to be irrigated, Mike Wagner continued to farm the land, and that the Galvins continued to use and maintain the ditch for repair purposes. See R. 250–251. Finally, the Galvins argued that their affidavit statements were sufficient to provide a metes and bounds for the scope of the easement. See R. 252. Interestingly, Mr. Galvin's third affidavit was the first introduction of any facts even

remotely related to the dimensions (i.e. width) of the alleged prescriptive easement in the Dirt Road. *See Id*.

On February 10, 2017, the Galvins provided additional opposition briefing. See R. 279–286. On February 16, 2017, the City provided supplemental questions of fact regarding the easement based upon the affidavits provided by the Galvins on February 8, 2017. See R. 287–294. The City objected to the inaccurate burden shifting and standard that the Galvins were arguing while on Summary Judgment. See R. 289–290. The City also argued that the additional affidavits submitted raised questions of fact as to whether C&G Inc. or the Galvins owned the Galvin Property during the alleged prescriptive period. See R. 292. The City argued that intent to stop farming was conceded by the Galvins in their briefing (and third supplemental declaration of Galvin), and that a trial was necessary for the sake of cross-examining, establishing credibility of witnesses, and to give the City its day in court. See R. 292–293.

Oral Arguments on Summary Judgment Round 2

On February 23, 2017, the district court continued the summary judgment hearing from January. See Tr. pp. 31–41. The Galvins summarily dismissed the requirement of the Galvins to prove successor in interest questions, and the district court did not address it. See Tr. pp. 31–33. The City argued that, in fact, issues raised in prior briefing had not been adequately put to rest, and that it should have its day in court. See Tr. pp. 34–38. After oral arguments concluded, the district court stated, "I'm not sure whether [the act of asking for a zoning change] is sufficient to meet the requirements of abandonment." Tr. p. 41. The district court took the matter under advisement. See Id.

Written Order on Summary Judgment

On March 6, 2017, the district court issued its written Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. See R. 295–305. In that decision, the district court cited to case law which says that abandonment is a question of intent coupled with corresponding conduct. See R. 301. The district court then weighed the evidence and concluded that there was "no abandonment of the easement." Id. The district court, despite having concerns during both oral argument hearings regarding the question of abandonment, granted attorneys' fees and costs under I.C. § 12-117, finding that the City had acted "without a reasonable basis in law or fact." See R. 303–304. The district court did not provide an analysis as why the City's defense of abandonment was frivolous other than to point to the fact that it had weighed the factual evidence surrounding the abandonment analysis and found that no abandonment had occurred. See R. 300–301 (referencing R. 298). The district court's order did not address the physical metes and bounds of the prescriptive easement. See R. 295–305.

On March 6, 2017, the district court also issued its initial Judgment in this matter, quieting title in "the road." See R. 306–307. The Judgment lacked any description or physical delineation of metes or bounds. See Id.

Motion to Reconsider & Attorneys Fees/Motion to Disallow Costs First Motion to Amend Judgment

On March 20, 2017, the parties filed multiple pleadings. The City filed its motion for reconsideration and supporting memorandum arguing that the district court's entry of attorneys' fees was not supported by the record. See R. 308–321. The City's motion also requested

reconsideration whether material issues of fact existed regarding abandonment and whether there was sufficient evidence in the record to fix the dimensions of the prescriptive easement. *See* R. 312–317.

Also, on March 20, 2017, the Galvins submitted their affidavit of costs for attorneys' fees and a *Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment*, R. 340 and a proposed judgment seeking to include a survey of the prescriptive easement area. R. 367. Without giving the City an opportunity to be heard, the district court signed the Amended Judgment on March 21, 2017. R. 367–371. On April 13, 2017, the City filed its opposition to the Galvins' motion to amend the judgment arguing that the entry of the amended judgment violated its due process rights, and pointing out that the legal description was not in evidence during summary judgment. *See* R. 372–376.

On April 25, 2017, the Galvins filed a reply brief in support of the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, arguing that the City was not prejudiced by the entry of the post-judgment legal description, and that the district court had sufficient evidence before it, but may have forgotten the technicalities of a description. *See* R. 399–405.

On April 27, 2017 a hearing was held on the City's motion for reconsideration and disallowing of costs and attorneys' fees and further addressed the Galvins' *Amended Judgment*. *See* Tr. pp. 42–62. During that the district court denied the City's motion reaffirming its decision that the Galvins had a prescriptive easement, but recognizing that the court did not have sufficient evidence to set forth the character width and location of the easement:

Court: Now, Mr. Villegas, I do think and given the case law that's cited once I found there's an easement, I needed to find evidence with regard to the extent of that easement and how wide, how long, where it began, where it ended. I think that is necessary to be put on

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