#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-13-2018

## Galvin v. City of Middleton Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45578

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

When this Court reviews a district court's ruling on a motion for summary judgment it employs the same standard properly employed by the district court when originally ruling on the motion. *Cherry v. Coregis Ins. Co.*, 146 Idaho 882, 884, 204 P.3d 522, 524 (2009) (citing *Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho v. Talbot*, 133 Idaho 428, 431, 987 P.2d 1043, 1046 (1999)). Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the only remaining questions are questions of law. *Id.* (citing *Harwood v. Talbert*, 136 Idaho 672, 677, 39 P.3d 612, 617 (2001); I.R.C.P. 56). This Court liberally construes all disputed facts in favor of the nonmoving party and draws all reasonable inferences and conclusions supported by the record in

favor of the party opposing the motion. Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 142 Idaho 790, 793, 134 P.3d 641, 644 (2006).

The nonmoving party cannot rest upon mere speculation and must submit more than just conclusory assertions that an issue of material fact exists to withstand summary judgment. Cantwell v. City of Boise, 146 Idaho 127, 133, 191 P.3d 205, 211 (2008). A nonmoving party must come forward with evidence by way of affidavit, or otherwise, that contradicts the evidence submitted by the moving party and establishes the existence of a material issue of disputed fact. Kiebert v. Goss, 144 Idaho 225, 228, 159 P.3d 862, 865 (2007) (citations omitted). The nonmoving defendant has the burden of supporting a claimed affirmative defense on a motion for summary judgment. Chandler v. Hayden, 147 Idaho 765, 215 P.3d 485 (2009). A mere scintilla of evidence, or only slight doubt as to the facts, is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact. Finholt v. Cresto, 143 Idaho 894, 897, 155 P.3d 695, 698 (2007). Summary judgment is appropriate where the nonmoving party bearing the burden of proof fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party's case. Cantwell, 146 Idaho at 133, 191 P.3d at 211. In the absence of genuine disputed issues of material fact, only questions of law remain and the Court exercises free review. Stuard v. Jorgenson, 150 Idaho 701 (2011).

When an action will be tried before a court without a jury, the judge is not constrained to draw inferences in favor of the party opposing a motion for summary judgment, but rather the trial judge is free to arrive at the most probable inferences to be drawn from uncontroverted evidentiary facts. *Barnes v. Jackson*, 163 Idaho 194, 408 P.3d 1266 (2018); *Loomis v. City of Hailey*, 119 Idaho 434, 437, 807 P.2d 1272, 1275 (1991) (*citing Riverside Dev. Co. v. Ritchie*, 103 Idaho 515, 650 P.2d 657 (1982)).

#### B. Introduction

Willis Road is an old farm road that sits on a section line in Middleton, Idaho. Plaintiffs, Martin (Mr. Galvin) and Pat Galvin (the "Galvins"), and the Galvin family have utilized this farm road for regular farming practices and have built, repaired and maintained the road for over sixty (60) years. In or about December 2011 or early 2012, the property where the road sits was purchased by a new owner, Mr. and Mrs. Allaire ("Allaires"). The Allaires ultimately erected a fence and attempted to exclude the Galvins from utilizing the farm road.

During this time, the City was looking at purchasing the farm road in exchange for other rights and because the road would eventually be expanded. The Galvins attended the City Council meetings, and urged support for the acquisition, and further detailed the long use by the Galvin family and requested that the City recognize their easement rights. R. 464-465. Without the Galvins knowledge, and behind closed doors, the City of Middleton entered into an exclusive use agreement for the road with the Allaires, to the exclusion of the public and the Galvins. R. 145-150. Soon after, an 83-year-old Mr. Galvin, with the help of his daughters, were exercising their rights on the easement, and further maintaining the same, when they were cited for trespass. That matter was ultimately dismissed and the dismissal was communicated to the City by the prosecutor. R. 69, ¶¶ 23, 24 and 64.

The Galvins have tried different avenues to amicably resolve the matter with the City but were eventually forced to file a complaint for declaratory relief, quiet title to prescriptive easement and permanent injunction. In response to the Complaint, the City denied that the Galvins had any easement.

Before the district court, the Galvins presented ample evidence in the form of exhibits, declarations, affidavits, Black Canyon District irrigation water records, etc., however, the City

would not recognize that they had a legal right to their easement. The only thing the City submitted to support its opposition were the documents associated with the Galvins' application to rezone their farming property in 1996-1998 so they could build a golf course and residential subdivision. R. 137-213. The City did not provide any other declaration or affidavit in support of its defense or opposition to the Galvins' prescriptive claims. The City's opposition has always been, first, there was no prescriptive right and second, if there was a prescriptive right, the application process and rezoning of the property constituted an abandonment of any prescriptive right. Only after the City lost on summary judgment did it try to refute the dimensions.

The first glaring problem with the City's argument is that the rezoning of the property did not affect the property rights or easements. In the legal description attached to the ordinance it even states, "[t]his description is for zoning use only, it does not necessarily represent existing or future property, right-of-ways or easement." R. 206, 208 and 210. The City's argument would likewise just be bad public policy. Second, and most importantly, it is irrefutable that the Galvins never stopped farming, using the easement and rights associated therewith, never built a golf course and never took any other act after the ordinance directing the rezone relating to the property, including stopping the use of the easement. R. 224-226 and 270-271. To the contrary, from 1949, throughout the time of the application process and up through this dispute, the Galvins continuously used and maintained the easement and farm road. *Id*.

It is uncertain why the City has taken the position it has or why it has been so adamant upon fighting the Galvins when it has not presented any reasonable evidence for its position.

///

///

///

# C. The District Court's Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment Should be Affirmed

First and foremost, the City's defense was predicated on its denial that there was any prescriptive right—ever. *Answer*, R. 21. However, on appeal the City is not appealing the district court's findings of a prescriptive easement established in the 1950s. The City's argument on appeal strictly pertains to an alleged <u>abandonment</u> of the easement. *Brief*, p. 19.

The City argues that 1) there were material issues of fact regarding the "intent" to abandon which should have precluded summary judgment; and 2) that the Court erred in concluding that the grant of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Rezone were not sufficient to meet the "further acts" requirement of abandonment. *City Brief*, pp. 21 and 26.

## 1. <u>Law Regarding Abandonment.</u>

Abandonments and forfeitures are not favored. Wagoner v. Jeffery, 66 Idaho 455, 459-460, 162 P.2d 400, 402 (1945). Mere nonuse of an easement does not affect an abandonment. Weaver v. Stafford, 134 Idaho 691, 698, 8 P.3d 1234, 1241 (2000) (overruled on other grounds by Weitz v. Green, 148 Idaho 851, 230 P.3d 743 (2010) (citing Kolouch v. Kramer, 120 Idaho 65, 67, 813 P.2d 876, 878 (1991)). Abandonment of any right is dependent upon a finding of an intent to abandon evidenced by a clear, unequivocal and decisive act of the alleged abandoning party. Savage Lateral Ditch Water Users Ass'n v. Pulley, 125 Idaho 237, 249, 869 P.2d 554, 566 (1993) (citing Wagoner v. Jeffery, 66 Idaho 455, 460, 162 P.2d 400, 402 (1945)). The standard is truly heightened for abandonment. Perry v. Reynolds states:

[i]t requires very convincing and satisfactory proofs to support a forfeiture by abandonment of a real property right. (Welch v. Garrett, 5 Idaho 639, 51 P. 405, followed and approved in Ada County Farmers' Irr. Co. v. Farmers' Canal Co., 5 Idaho 793, 799, 51 P. 990.)

Abandonment may be shown by the facts and circumstances, but clear proof is required to make out a case. (*Union Grain & E. Co. v. McCammon Ditch Co.*, 41 Idaho 216, 224, 240 P. 443.)

It is elementary that an abandonment of any right is dependent upon an intention to abandon and must be evidenced by a clear, unequivocal and decisive act of the party." (Sullivan C. Co. v. Twin Falls A. Co., 44 Idaho 520, 526, 258 P. 529.)

Abandonment is a matter of intent, coupled with corresponding conduct; thus a question of fact." (*St. John Irr. Co. v. Danforth*, 50 Idaho 513, 516, 298 P. 365.) See, also, *Zezi v. Lightfoot*, 57 Idaho 707, 713, 68 P.2d 50.

Perry v. Reynolds, 63 Idaho 457, 464, 122 P.2d 508, 510-511 (1942).

"The acts claimed to constitute the abandonment of an easement must show the destruction thereof, or that its legitimate use has been rendered impossible by some act of the owner thereof, or some other unequivocal act showing an intention to permanently abandon and give up the easement...." O'Brien v. Best, 68 Idaho 348, 357–58, 194 P.2d 608, 613–14 (1948) (emphasis added) (quoting Northern Pac. Ry. Co. v. Tacoma Junk Co., 138 Wash. 116, 244 P. 117, 119 (1926)).

2. There were no Genuine Issues of Material Fact Regarding the Intent to Abandon, or Any Unequivocal Act Evidencing Abandonment.

The City's argument is that the application process for and ultimate granting of a zoning change, in and of itself, equated to abandonment of the prescriptive easement. The City argues, "[c]onverting his land to a golf course and 120 residential homes would certainly render the use of the easement for agricultural pursuits impossible." *City Brief*, p. 26. Of course, this claim is not true. Having a golf course that needs irrigation and drainage does not make the use of the easement to maintain the land and irrigation drainage "impossible," as the City contends. More importantly, the City ignores the <u>undisputed</u> fact that the land, farming operations and use of the easement was continuous and unchanged throughout the entire application period and has been the same for the twenty (20) years thereafter. R. 270-271.

The district court found that, "[a]lthough the parties have emphasized different facts, there does not appear to be an actual dispute as to the facts in this case. Because there is no genuine dispute of any material fact before the Court, it is appropriate for this Court to enter judgment as a matter of law..." R. 299. Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the only remaining questions are questions of law. *Cherry v. Coregis Ins. Co.*, 146 Idaho 882, 884, 204 P.3d 522, 524 (2009) (citing *Harwood v. Talbert*, 136 Idaho 672, 677, 39 P.3d 612, 617 (2001); I.R.C.P. 56). A material issue of fact, for summary judgment purposes, is one that is relevant to an element of the claim or defense and whose existence might affect the outcome of the case. *State v. Hudson*, 162 Idaho 888, 892, 407 P.3d 202, 208 (2017).

The City contends that the district court applied the wrong standard, however the City fails to recognize that the court applied its standard, but even liberally construing the facts there was no evidence to reasonably support any elements for the affirmative defense of abandonment. Furthermore, the nonmoving defendant has the burden of supporting a claimed affirmative defense on a motion for summary judgment. *Chandler v. Hayden*, 147 Idaho 765, 215 P.3d 485 (2009).

The City ignores the standard that when a matter will be tried before a court without a jury, the judge is not constrained to draw inferences in favor of the party opposing a motion for summary judgment, but rather the trial judge is free to arrive at the most probable inferences to be drawn from uncontroverted evidentiary fact. *Barnes v. Jackson*, 163 Idaho 194, 408 P.3d 1266 (2018); *see also Loomis v. City of Hailey*, 119 Idaho 434, 437, 807 P.2d 1272, 1275 (1991) (*citing Riverside Dev. Co. v. Ritchie*, 103 Idaho 515, 650 P.2d 657 (1982). "Where the evidentiary facts are not disputed and the trial court rather than a jury will be the trier of fact, summary judgment is appropriate, despite the possibility of conflicting inferences because the

court alone will be responsible for resolving the conflict between those inferences." Riverside

Dev. Co. v. Ritchie, 103 Idaho 515, 519, 650 P.2d 657, 661 (1982) (citing Pierson v. Jones, 102

Idaho 82, 85, 625 P.2d 1085, 1088 (1981); Hollandsworth v. Cottonwood Elevator Co., 95 Idaho
468, 471, 511 P.2d 285, 288 (1973); Angleton v. Angleton, 84 Idaho 184, 198, 370 P.2d 788, 796

(1962)); see also Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Neumeier, 163 Idaho 504, 415 P.3d 372, 376

(2018). The parties acknowledged early in the proceedings that this was a matter to be tried to the court. Tr., p. 18, II. 18-23.

The Galvins did not contest that they applied to rezone their property because they wished to develop their farming property into a golf course and residential community. R. 225, ¶ 4. The application process is what the City is relying upon for an act of abandonment of the easement, and for its intent, however this conclusion is not supported. The City does not present any evidence that supports any elements of abandonment.

The City's arguments fail for a number of reasons. The application for rezoning or conditional use permit does not say anything about abandoning or nonuse of the irrigation ditch and/or easement(s). R. 152-213. The Galvins never intended to abandon their prescriptive easement, and the Application for Zoning Amendment or Conditional Use Permit does not support that conclusion. R. 271, ¶ 6. The actual Ordinance Directing Amendments to Canyon County Zoning Ordinance No. 97-001 in fact notes the opposite, stating "[t]his description is for zoning use only, it does not necessarily represent existing or future property, right-of-ways or easement." R. 202-10 (emphasis added). Regardless, it is uncontested that the Galvins continued normal farming operation and use of the road and prescriptive rights continuously throughout the application process until today as it has since 1949. R. 270-271. Once the rezoning of the property was approved, no further action to develop the land occurred. *Id.*, ¶ 4.

Even so, the easement, secondary easements and rights associated therewith extend beyond just those activities related to *farming*. Thus, even should the Galvins develop the land into a golf course and rural subdivision in the future (which they have not), there would still be irrigation on the property and the utilization of the easement for repair, maintenance, cutting puncture vine, trapping gophers, etc. Whether changing the use would have changed the scope of the easement is debatable—however, this point is moot because the Galvins never developed the land nor changed their prescriptive practices. R. 270-271. The evidence cannot support any *intent* to abandon or affirmative acts of abandonment by the <u>owner</u> of the easement.

The Court correctly concluded that:

[a]t most, the act of applying for a zoning change indicated that Galvins had a plan for future changes in the use of their property which could potentially end their use of the easement. There was never any change in the use of their farming property and they continued to use the Road as they had done since 1949. The request for a zoning change of their farming property, in and of itself, does not demonstrate an intent to immediately abandon the appurtenant easement. They likewise failed to engage in any act demonstrating abandonment. The Court finds there was no abandonment of the easement.

Memorandum Decision and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 301.

3. The Application Process and Grant of a Rezone Were not Sufficient as Further Acts or any Act of Abandonment.

The City's second argument is that all of the acts within the application for rezoning, and specifically the *granting* of the rezone, met the "further acts" requirement for abandonment. *City Brief*, p. 27. The district court found that the Galvins failed to engage in any act demonstrating abandonment, R. 301.

The evidence is undisputed that the Galvins have used their prescriptive easement, ditch, farm road and secondary easements from 1949, throughout the 1990s and through the present day when this matter was filed. R. 270-271, ¶¶ 3, 5 and 6. This has been continuous. *Id*.

However, the City argues that the "other or further acts" requirement was overlooked by the Court and that the application process and granting of the requested Comprehensive Plan, change/amendment and zoning ordinance was the clear, unequivocal and decisive act to abandon the easement. *City Brief*, p. 27.

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